1999

Jean Levanger and Rebecca Levanger v. JOANN VINCENT, KEN FISHER, DIANE DUPLANTY, RON DUPLANTY, JAN NEMCIK, BECKY NELSON, ROSIE PETRONELLA, CORY ALSBERG, GERALD VINCENT, SANDY FISHER, SCOTT FEATHERSTONE, MARTIN ROGUSCHKA, LANCE SWEDISH LAUREL KANGAS, JOHN DOES 1-5, JANE DOES 1-5, and HIGHLAND ESTATES PROPERTIES OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC. : Brief of

JURISDICTION OF THE APPELLATE COURT

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(j) (1996). The appeal was transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Utah Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review are these:

1. Did the Homeowners Association violate Utah statute and its charter documents in approving amendments to its CC&R's by way of mail-in balloting, open extensions of voting periods, and without a determination of those members entitled to vote?

2. Was it an abuse of the trial court's discretion to deny plaintiff's motion to reconsider solely on the grounds that the

motion was too late, without considering new evidence proffered by plaintiffs in support of their motion?

#### Standard of Review

The standard of review on an appeal from the granting of a motion for summary judgment is that no deference is given to the trial court's conclusions, which are reviewed for correctness.

Kunz & Co. v. State, 913 P.2d 765, 768 (Ut. Ct. App. 1996).

As is the case whenever we consider an appeal from a summary judgment, we review the trial court's legal conclusions, including its conclusion that the material facts are not disputed, for correctness. See Utah R.Civ.P. 56(c) (stating that summary judgment is appropriate only if "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and ... the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law"). This standard allows us to make our own conclusions and does not obligate us to defer to the trial court.

*Id.* (citation omitted).

The party against whom summary judgment is rendered is entitled to all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the facts. McNair v. Farris, 944 P.2 392, 393 (Ut. Ct. App. 1997) ("we note that in reviewing a grant of summary judgment, we view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party").

As regards the appeal from the denial of plaintiff's motion to reconsider, the standard of review is one of abuse of discretion. Lund v. Hall, 938 P.2d 285, 287 (Utah 1997). The court in Lund further noted: "In reviewing such a motion, we accord no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law but review them for correctness." *Id.*

STATUTES AND RULES WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS OF  
CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THE APPEAL

Application of §§ 16-6-27 through 33 of the Utah Nonprofit Corporation and Co-operative Association Act, Utah Code Annotated (1995 Replacement), is of central importance to the appeal. These provisions contain the requirements for holding meetings by members of the Homeowners Association, including determining those entitled to vote, voting requirements and actions taken by members without meetings. Section 16-6-33 provides the only statutorily prescribed alternative to meetings of members, allowing action to be taken by members without a meeting only if "a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the members entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof . . . ." *Id.* Applied in conjunction with the Homeowners Association charter documents, these statutes require the decision of the trial court granting summary judgment for the Homeowners Association to be reversed.

Proper application of Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is of central importance to plaintiffs' appeal of the trial court's denial of their motion to reconsider. The trial court misapplied the law in ruling that the motion to reconsider was procedurally flawed, due to timeliness and waiver.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is a derivative action brought by plaintiffs on behalf of members of the Homeowners Association similarly situated to



seek rescission of the Association's execution and recording of amended CC&R's, approved by way of written ballot without benefit of a members meeting, as required by law. Plaintiff's seek injunctive relief and damages against those responsible for the illegal acts.

#### Course of Proceedings

Plaintiffs filed their complaint January 21, 1997. R.9. Defendant Homeowners Association filed its answer February 26, 1997. R.77.

The Homeowners Association filed a motion for summary judgment November 26, 1997. R. 198. A hearing on the motion was heard by the Third District Court, the Honorable Ronald Nehring presiding, on January 9, 1998. R. 411. The Court issued an order granting the motion for summary judgment on May 28, 1998. R. 467.

Plaintiffs filed a motion to reconsider the decision granting summary judgment or to certify the order as final and appealable on July 16, 1998. R. 479. The Court denied the motion to reconsider and granted the motion to certify the summary judgment as final pursuant to Rule 54(b) in its Order of March 3, 1999. R. 1063.

The LeVangers filed a Notice of Appeal on March 31, 1999. R. 1074. The case subsequently was poured-over to the Court of Appeals by Order dated May 18, 1999, and filed May 20, 1999. (The Order has no Bates stamp in the record on appeal but the

index to the record indicates that it should be page 1145 of the record on appeal.)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. In August of 1994, the Board of Trustees of the Homeowners Association caused amended CC&R's to be submitted for approval by members of the Association solely by means of written ballot. R. 53-54.

2. The notice of the balloting sent to members was not sent to each member. Affidavit of Michael Ferrigno, current President of the Association, R. 473. Mr. Ferrigno's testimony is uncontroverted.

4. I did not vote in 1994 when the Highland Estates Properties Owners Association proposed to amend the CC&R's for the subdivision because I did not receive any notice of the vote.

5. I did not receive any letters soliciting my vote, did not receive copies of the proposed amendments to the CC&R's, nor was I given a ballot with which to cast my vote.

3. The Association mischaracterized the affidavit testimony of Scott Welling, indicated to the trial court that he testified "Mr. Welling's letter [notice of the balloting], along with a ballot and a voting draft of the Amendment to Declaration of Restrictions and Protective Covenants was hand-delivered to each of the members of Highland Estates. (See Affidavit of Scott Welling)." (emphasis added) R. 205.

4. No where in Mr. Welling's Affidavit does he testify that the materials were hand delivered to every member of the Association. See R. 303-309.

5. The LeVangers pointed out to the trial court that Mr. Welling's Affidavit did not established delivery of the notice to all members, hand-delivered or otherwise. Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition. R. 312 (Under the heading, Disputed Facts - "Paragraph 18 of defendant's Statement of Facts is not supported by the Affidavit of Scott Welling. No where in the Affidavit does Mr. Welling testify that all members received a ballot and voting draft by hand delivery.").

6. There is no provision in the Association's Bylaws as they existed in 1994 and 1995, in the Articles of Incorporation then in effect, or its CC&R's prior to the current amendments that allow members to vote by written ballot. R. 24-34 - Bylaws; R. 242-245 - 1972 CC&R's; R. 247-248 - Articles of Incorporation.

7. Section 2.5 of the Association's Bylaws then in effect provided that, at meetings of the members at which a quorum is present or represented by proxy "[a]ll votes may be cast by the members either in person or by proxy." R. 33.

8. Section 2.5 of the Bylaws expressly requires proxies to be received and verified **before** the date of the meeting. In relevant part, the Section reads as follows:

Section 2.5 - Voting Requirements. . . . All proxies shall be in writing and in the case of proxies for the annual meeting, they shall be delivered to a credentials committee consisting of the President, a

Vice President and Secretary of the Association at least ten (10) days prior to said annual meeting. [Five days in advance of special meetings].

R. 33.

9. Section 2.7 of the Bylaws contemplates only in-person meetings of the Association's members. It also allows a method for reconvening meetings to take action when a quorum is not present. It reads as follows:

Section 2.7 - Quorum. At any meeting of the members, the presence of members holding, or holders of proxies entitled to vote, more than fifty percent (50%) of the total votes of the Association shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. In the event a quorum is not present at a meeting, the members present (whether represented in person or by proxy), though less than a quorum, may adjourn the meeting to a later date. Notice thereof shall be delivered to the members as provided above. At the reconvened meeting, the members and proxy holders present shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

R. 33.

10. Section 2.8 of the Bylaws contemplates only in-person meetings of the Association's members. It reads as follows:

Section 2.8 - Waiver of Irregularities. All inaccuracies and/or irregularities in calls, notices of meetings and in the manner of voting, form of proxies, credentials and method of ascertaining those present, shall be deemed waived if no objection is made at the meeting.

R. 33. Absent a meeting, objections to inaccuracies and irregularities cannot be accomplished as contemplated.

11. The CC&R's in effect in 1994 contained a provision requiring the vote of a majority of the homeowners to amend the CC&R's ("unless by vote of the owners of the majority of the lots

in said Subdivision; it is agreed to change said Conditions in whole or in part." ).<sup>1</sup> R. 245.

12. No record date for determining members entitled to cast a vote on the proposal to amend the CC&R's was established by the Board of Trustees of the Association. Deposition testimony of JoAnn Vincent, R. 749-752.

13. The Board of Trustees did not prepare or maintain a membership list prior to sending out notice of the proposal to adopt the Amended CC&R's or at any time prior to the recording of the Amended CC&R's. R. 750-753.

14. Section 2.6 of the Association's Bylaws allows only persons who "appear as members upon the transfer books of the Association on the 30th day before such annual members' meeting," to vote. R. 33.

15. The members were not provided a list of members at any meeting of the members of the Association during 1994 and 1995. R. 742.

---

<sup>1</sup> The paragraph reads in its entirety as follows:

These conditions shall run with the land and shall be binding upon all parties and all persons claiming under them until March 10, 1982, at which time said Conditions and Covenants shall be automatically extended for successive periods of ten (10) years, unless by vote of the owners of a majority of the lots in said Subdivision, it is agreed to change said Conditions in whole or in part.

R. 33.

16. The Board of Trustees prepared a written ballot to seek approval of the amended CC&R's, which stated "(to be returned by November 30, 1994)." R. 53.

17. The cover letter with the ballot stated: "Please note: the voting period expires November 30, 1994; ballots must be returned by that date." (emphasis in original - the only words highlighted on the page). R. 54. The cover letter also noted: "The enclosed ballot represents a straight up or down expression of your opinion." R. 54.

18. The Board of Trustees determined on its own and without property owner notice or approval to "extend the voting period on our CC&R's." Newsletter to Members, January, 1995. R. 51. "The CCR's had a deadline of November 30, 1994. A year later votes were still being solicited. The Association never voted to extend the vote or take a new vote." Affidavit of Robert Blackbourn, Jr. R. 356.

19. The Association determined there were 262 lots entitled to vote on the Amended CC&R's. R. 512. The Association counted 149 votes in favor of the Amended CC&R's. R. 512.

20. Of the ballots counted in favor of the Amended CC&R's by the Board of Trustees, 46 are only signed by one of two joint tenants. R. 512.

21. Section 2.5 of the Bylaws of the Association provides that "[i]n the case of a membership owned as joint tenants, each such joint tenant shall have that number of votes determined by

dividing the number of votes attributable to the membership by the number of joint tenants who own the membership." R. 33.

22. During the year that votes were being solicited, ownership of at least 41 lots changed. R. 515-542.

23. Ten of the votes allegedly cast in favor of the Amended CC&R's were cast by property owners who were not property owners at the time of notice of voting on the Amended CC&R's. R. 512.

24. Two of the votes allegedly counted by the Board in favor of the Amended CC&R's were cast by property owners who were not record owners of the lots represented by the ballots. R. 512.

25. Four of the votes allegedly cast in favor of the Amended CC&R's were cast by owners claiming ownership of split lots, but are shown on the records of the Highland Estates as consisting of only one lot. R. 512.

26. The voting notices sent to members by the Board of Trustees misrepresented material facts regarding the proposed CC&R's. The notice of ballot voting authorized by the Board of Trustees misrepresented that the Amended CC&R's reflected "the majority's view of how the subdivision ought to appear and be operated . . . ." R. 54.

27. The Board of Trustees knew, when it authorized the statement that the proposed CC&R's were the majority view in the subdivision, that far fewer than a majority of the property

owners had ever participated in the meetings to consider the proposed CC&R's. R. 745.

28. The notice of ballot voting failed to include information regarding the more controversial aspects of the proposed CC&R's, including the expansion of the authority of the Board of Trustees to amend the Bylaws, the authorization for ballot voting by members, the ability to restrict or limit voting of members, and the ability to levy large, punitive fines for violations of the CC&R's. R. 54 - Notice of Balloting Process; R. 38-49 - Amended CC&R's as recorded; R. 242-245 - CC&R's in effect from 1972.

29. The statements in the notice of voting by ballot and the information omitted was material to the property owners' informed vote on the proposed CC&R's. Affidavit of Christie Bambery, R. 504.

30. The Amendment to Declaration of Restrictions and Protective Covenants for Highland Estates Subdivision, Summit County, Utah, as executed October 3, 1995, and recorded with the Summit County Recorder on October 5, 1995, differed in at least two material respects from the draft CC&R's submitted to members for their approval, excluding entirely the provision regarding limitation of liability for the bridal path easement, and excluding from the definition of residential lots 13 lots. Compare R. 756-767 - Voting Draft of CC&R's with R. 768-779 - Recorded Set of CC&R's.



### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The LeVangers, on behalf of all members of the Association, contest the methods employed by the Board of the Association to amend the CC&R's affecting the members' property. The trustees chose to employ a mail-in balloting process, inventing new rules or ignoring established rules of corporate governance as it suited their purposes in allegedly obtaining approval for the amended CC&R's. Their methods were fatally defective -- no record date for members entitled to vote was established; notice of the altered method for approving the amendments was not provided to all members; the deadline for voting was unilaterally extended, without advance notice; property owners who became such only after the voting process began were allowed to cast ballots; voting tallies were improperly kept. There are genuine issues of material fact (the invalid notice and the vote tallying) and the Association is not entitled to summary judgment on the mail-in balloting issue as a matter of law.

Some of the evidence of impropriety only came to light following the trial court's granting of partial summary judgment, but before a new trial date had been set, and before the partial summary judgment had been certified as final and appealable. Yet, the trial court, Judge Brian presiding, ruled that he did not need to see the LeVangers' memorandum in support of their motion to reconsider and did not need to see the new evidence and consider its weight. He wrongly held that he did not need to

consider the merits of plaintiffs' new contentions and that plaintiffs were too late in submitting the evidence and had waived the right to present the evidence. He applied the wrong standard of review. The trial court abused its discretion in not considering the merits of the LeVangers' motion to reconsider. Further, this Court may consider without deference the trial court's application of the wrong standard of review.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **I. The Association's Attempt to Approve Amended CC&R's by Means of Mail-in Balloting was Illegal.**

##### A. Mail-In Balloting is Not Allowed by the Association's Charter Documents or Under Utah Statute.

Sections 16-6-27 through 32 of the Utah Nonprofit Corporation and Co-operative Association Act contemplate only in-person meetings when defining the process by which members of a nonprofit corporation may take action. The meeting must be duly noticed and convened, a quorum must be present, and those entitled to vote must be ascertainable. Section 16-6-28 provides for giving notice "to each member entitled to vote at [a member's] meeting." Section 16-6-29 sets out the manner in which a quorum is determined. Section 16-6-30 provides that "[a] member may vote in person or, unless the articles of incorporation or the bylaws otherwise provide, may vote by proxy executed in writing by the member or by his duly authorized attorney in fact."

Section 16-6-33 provides the exclusive statutory means by which action may be taken by members other than in a meeting. It provides:

Any action required by this act to be taken at a meeting of the members . . . or any action which may be taken at a meeting of the members . . . may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all the members entitled to vote.

None of the charter documents for the Association, neither the Articles, the Bylaws nor the CC&R's in effect at the time of the mail-in balloting, contain provisions allowing for mail-in balloting. All the relevant provisions of the Association's charter documents contemplate only in-person meetings.

A Pennsylvania appellate court, faced with a situation similar to the one presently contested, held that mail-in ballots were not allowed as a substitute for an in-person meeting. In Sparkes v Wright, 547 A.2d 415 (Sup. Ct. Pa. 1988), the trial court's nullifying a mail ballot vote to amend Bylaws of the nonprofit corporation was affirmed on appeal. After examining the bylaws of the corporation and the state nonprofit corporations act, the court stated: "[W]e note no provision in [the] statute for presence in person at a corporate meeting to be accomplished by mail ballot of the type utilized in this case. . . . Clearly, the provisions of Section 7709 contemplate a means of communication in which all persons involved in the meeting can 'hear each other . . . . Undoubtedly, ballots submitted by mail do not provide this type of communication."

The Utah statutes and the Association's charter documents similarly contemplate means by which members can hear one another and a give-and-take discussion can occur. The Pennsylvania courts struck down a ballot process designed to obtain votes in advance of an in-person meeting. How much more imperative it is for this Court to strike down a balloting process that occurred over an indefinite period with no corresponding member's meeting, with no record date for those allowed to participate, and with inadequate notice to members regarding material information.

B. The Mail-in Balloting Process Was Not the Effective Equivalent of Soliciting Proxies.

In the present action, the trial court, in granting the Association's summary judgment motion, rightly noted that "there is nothing -- few things -- more fundamental to corporations . . . than the process by which those entities amend their charter or their beginning documents so to speak." Reporter's Partial Transcript of Hearing on Motion for Summary Judgment: Court's Ruling. R. 412. The trial court thereafter wrongly concluded, however, that the Association's mail-in balloting process was an effective substitute for an in-person meeting to effect such fundamental changes. The trial court was persuaded by the argument that, since proxies are allowed at in-person meetings, mail-in balloting does not injure any fundamental purpose of corporate governance.<sup>2</sup> The trial court failed to properly view the mail-in balloting process in its context.

---

<sup>2</sup>The court noted that: "whereas, here meetings could be

At in-person meetings there is an opportunity for the give and take of discussion. None of that occurred in this case. The notice to members was inadequate to alert them as to the pros and cons of the more controversial provisions of the amendments. It contained misrepresentations. As noted in the Affidavit of Christie Bambery, R. 504, members would have voted differently had they been apprised of all the facts, something that face-to-face meetings provide.

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