1999

Jean Levanger and Rebecca Levanger v. Joann Vincent, Ken Fisher, Diane Duplanty, Ron Duplanty, Jan Nemcik, Betsy Nelson, Rosie Petronell, Cory Alsberg, Gerald Vincent, Sandy Fisher, Scott Featherstone, Martin Roguschka, Lance Swedish, Laurel Kangas, John Does 1-5, Jane Does 1-5, and Higland Estating Properties Owners Association, INC. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

⁷ Plaintiffs further allege that "the trial court incorrectly applied a standard of review based on Rule 56 . . ." (Appellants' Brief, p. 23.) However, there is nothing in the record supporting the notion that Judge Brian relied on Rule 56. Instead, the record shows that Judge Brian applied the standards set forth in Rules 54(b) and 60(b). (R. 1047.)

set forth in Rule 60(b); Lund v. Hall, 938 P.2d 285, 287 (Utah 1997); Timm v. Dewsnup, 921 P.2d 1381, 1386 (Utah 1996)). The Rule states in pertinent part:

On motion . . . the court may . . . relieve a party . . . from a final judgment, order or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) *newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial* . . .; (3) fraud . . . misrepresentation or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied . . .; or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), or (3), not more than 3 months after the judgment . . .

Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b) (emphasis added). Without such a reason, it would be pointless for a

court to review a prior order.

Applying this standard Utah courts have found that “new evidence must be submitted and it must; (i) be such as it could not with reasonable diligence have been discovered and produced in opposition to the motion for summary judgment; (ii) not be merely cumulative; and (iii) be such as to render a different result probable.” In re Determination of the Rights to Use Water, 368 Utah Adv. Rep. at 12 (citing State v. Goddard, 871 P.2d 540 (Utah 1994) (refusing to grant a motion for a new trial where new evidence did not meet these standards)); see also Trembly v. Mrs. Fields Cookies, 884 P.2d 1306, 1311 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (holding that “[a] court can consider several factors in determining the propriety of reconsidering a prior ruling. These may include, but are not limited to, when . . . (3) a party offers new evidence”). As Plaintiffs point out, Motions to

Reconsider should be denied when, “in the case of summary judgment, a subsequent motion fails to present the case in a different light, such as when no new, material evidence is introduced.” Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, 761 P.2d 42, 43 (Utah Ct. App. 1988); Appellants’ Brief, p. 24.

In this case, Judge Brian properly reviewed Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider under Rules 54(b) and 60(b). After a full hearing on Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider, Judge Brian found that:

The record is undisputed that at the time summary judgment was argued and granted, there was no request by Plaintiffs for a continuance in order to conduct additional discovery; secondly, there was no motion to compel discovery either prior to or at the time of motion for summary judgment; and, three, it is undisputed that evidence relating to what is now offered as newly discovered evidence was, in fact, available to the Plaintiffs at the time summary judgment was argued and granted.

(R. 1047.) Judge Brian, authorized to review Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider under Rule 54(b), applied the standards set forth in Rule 60(b) and found that Plaintiffs’ Motion presented no “newly discovered evidence.” (R. 1047.) As such, Judge Brian’s review of Plaintiffs’ Motion was proper and cannot be considered an abuse of discretion.

Plaintiffs rely on Timm for the proposition that Rule 54(b) requires that the trial court must examine a Motion to Reconsider on its substantive merits. Timm v. Dewsnup, 851 P.2d 1178 (Utah 1993). Timm involved a Motion to Reconsider which was denied when the trial court found that such a motion did not exist under the Utah Rules. Id. at 1184. In reversing that finding, the Utah Supreme Court held that “pursuant to the

provisions of rule 54(b), because the summary judgment was ‘subject to revision,’ a motion to reconsider is a reasonable means of requesting such a revision and is therefore permitted.” Id. at 1185. However, nothing from the decision shows that the trial court in the instant case abused its discretion in denying Plaintiffs’ Motion. The instant case involves a trial court which, while recognizing that a Motion to Reconsider exists under the Utah Rules, denied to grant the motion because Plaintiffs had waived their opportunity to discover the ballots, and because the ballots did not qualify as ‘newly discovered evidence.’ (R. 1047.) Such findings are commonly upheld by Utah courts. See Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, 761 P.2d 42, 43-44 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) (affirming denial of motion to reconsider when motion did not fulfill the requirements of the ‘newly discovered evidence’ Rule).⁸

The instant case is similar to In Re Determination of the Rights to Use Water, 368 Utah Adv. Rep. at 9. There the Utah Supreme Court heard a case where the trial court had denied plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider an Order granting Partial Summary Judgment. Id. at 12. Though the Plaintiffs had supported their Motion with an affidavit, the trial court ruled that since the affidavit presented no new evidence the Motion could not be considered.

⁸ Appellants’ citation of Kennedy v. New Era Indus., Inc., 600 P.2d 534, 536 (Utah 1979) is likewise misplaced. There the court explained that Rule 54(b) expressly states that “a trial judge should have the opportunity for reconsideration in such cases since it facilitates the just and speedy resolution of disputes in the trial court.” Id. at 536-37. While Rule 54(b) provides a trial judge with the “opportunity for reconsideration,” nothing in the Rule provides that a trial judge *must* consider a Motion to Reconsider when Plaintiffs present no reason, such as new evidence, to do so.

Id. In affirming the trial courts' decision, the Utah Supreme Court stated that "[a] trial court's denial of a motion to reconsider summary judgment is reviewed under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for abuse of discretion." Id. (internal quotations omitted). The court found that since the affidavit did not constitute "newly discovered evidence" the trial court "did not abuse its discretion . . . in refusing to reconsider the [plaintiffs'] summary judgment." Id.

Though factually different, the instant case presents an identical situation. Here Plaintiffs asked the trial court to reconsider a partial summary judgment based on evidence which could have been properly sought prior to the summary judgment ruling. (R. 1047.) As such, Plaintiffs' evidence does not qualify under the 'newly discovered evidence' standard required by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and the Utah Supreme Court. Because Plaintiffs presented the trial court with no 'newly discovered evidence' the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it ruled that it could not consider Plaintiffs' Motion. (R. 1047.); see In re Determination of the Rights to Use Water, 368 Utah Adv. Rep. at 12; J.V. Hatch Const. Inc. v. Kampros, 971 P.2d 8, 11 (Utah Ct. App. 1998); see also Rothwell Cotton Co. v. Rosenthal & Co., 827 F.2d 246, 251 (7th Cir. 1987) (holding that for trial court to relieve party from an order on the basis of newly discovered evidence, the evidence must satisfy the Rule 60(b) requirements).

B. Plaintiffs Do Not Qualify Under the ‘Newly Discovered Evidence’ Standard.

Because the voting ballots do not qualify as ‘newly discovered evidence’ under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and because Plaintiffs failed to properly attempt to discover the voting ballots, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider. The voting ballots do not qualify under this standard for three reasons. First, the ballots do not qualify as ‘newly discovered evidence.’ The voting ballots were the subject of a discovery dispute during which Plaintiffs failed to exercise any diligence in discovering the ballots. Plaintiffs requested the ballots through their first request for production of documents. (R. 1153.) Highland Estates objected to Plaintiffs’ request on the basis that the ballots would reveal highly personal information about those who voted to amend the CC&R’s. (R. 1154.) Plaintiffs failed to seek to compel the production of the ballots and failed to request a continuance in order that they may discover the ballots. (R. 1045, 1047, 1154.) Following Judge Nehring’s Order granting partial summary, Plaintiffs obtained copies of the ballots only through Mrs. LeVanger’s new position on the homeowners association Board of Trustees. (R. 512.) Thus, Plaintiffs failed to exercise reasonable diligence to discover and produce evidence which was available to them. Plaintiffs failed to file a motion compelling production of the ballots. Plaintiffs further failed to request a continuance granting them more time to discover the ballots. Such failures can not rise to the level of diligent discovery. Thus, the ballots do not qualify as ‘newly discovered evidence.’ See Keene Corp. v. Int’l Fidelity Insurance Co., 561 F.Supp.

656, 665 (N.D. Ga. 1982) (holding that the moving party must establish that through due diligence the newly discovered evidence could not have been discovered while the summary judgment motion was pending). As the Keene court has stated:

Motions for reconsideration serve a limited function: to correct manifest errors of law or fact or to present newly discovered evidence. Such motions cannot in any case be employed as a vehicle to introduce new evidence that could have been adduced during pendency of the summary judgment motion. The non-movant has an affirmative duty to come forward to meet a properly supported motion for summary judgment.

Keene, 561 F.Supp. at 666.

Likewise, Plaintiffs failed to provide the trial court with any justification as to why the affidavits submitted with Plaintiffs' Motion to Reconsider were not filed while Highland Estates' Motion for Summary Judgment was pending. The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure preclude Plaintiffs from arguing that the affidavit could not have been produced at the time the Motion for Summary Judgment was pending. Rule 56(f) provides that:

Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

Utah R. Civ. P. 56(f). Thus, had Plaintiffs been concerned about the availability of the affidavits for the court to consider in regard to Highland Estates' Motion for Summary Judgment, it could have taken the necessary precautions provided by the Rules.

In addition, Rule 56(c) requires that motions, memoranda and affidavits pertaining to a motion for summary judgment “shall be filed and served in accordance with CJA 4-501.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). Rule 4-501(1)(B) requires that “the responding party shall file and serve upon all parties within ten days after service of a motion, a memorandum in opposition to the motion, and all supporting documentation.” Since Plaintiffs did not file the affidavits with their Memorandum in Opposition to Highland Estates’ Motion for Summary Judgment, the affidavits cannot now be considered. Accordingly, Plaintiffs did not exercise ‘due diligence’ in bringing to light the evidence which was discoverable during the time the Court considered and granted Highland Estates’ Motion for Summary Judgment.

Second, the fact that Plaintiffs failed to fulfill the Rule 60(b) ‘due diligence’ requirement in regard to the ballots constitutes a waiver which procedurally precludes Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider. The trial court stated that:

The Court finds that procedurally the Plaintiffs had an opportunity to either conduct additional discovery, compel discovery that was outstanding and unresponded to or to seek a continuance for those purposes. Their failure to do so constitutes a waiver, and procedurally the Court finds that there is simply no basis for the setting aside of the summary judgment granted by Judge Nehring in behalf of the Defendants.

(R. 1047.)

Plaintiffs had over six months in which to attempt to discover the voting ballots.

(R. 1154.) They did not present the ballots to the court until long after the summary

judgment hearing. (R. 512.) Failure by Plaintiffs to diligently pursue the ballots through the proper discovery process constitutes a waiver. See Hi-Country Estates Homeowners Ass'n v. Bagley & Co., 863 P.2d 1, 7 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (reversed on other grounds) (holding that party's inaction can result in procedural waiver of evidentiary hearing). When Plaintiffs fail to properly conduct diligent discovery they should not be allowed to circumvent the discovery procedures and present such evidence after summary judgment. Such conduct violates the principles of discovery and judicial economy.

Third, Plaintiffs do not qualify under the Rule 60(b) 'newly discovered evidence' standard because they circumvented discovery procedures in order to obtain copies of the voting ballots. When Plaintiffs originally attempted to discover the voting ballots, Defendants objected to their discovery. (R. 1153-54.) Defendants had assured the homeowners association members that their votes would be held confidential and were concerned that disclosure of the personal information contained on the ballots could be used to embarrass or persecute those who had voted for changes in the CC&R's. (R. 1046.) Plaintiffs then failed to address Defendants' objections and failed to file a motion to compel. (R. 1047.) Subsequently Mrs. LeVanger was elected to the Highland Estates Board of Trustees, the very board against whom she had filed suit. (R. 800, 1042.) Mrs. LeVanger then used this newly obtained position to secure copies of the voting records, despite Defendants' objections. (R. 1042.) Such behavior constitutes a blatant conflict of interest in that Mrs. LeVanger knowingly used her new position to obtain records which Defendants

had specifically objected to her having. Mrs. LeVanger's conflict of interest is especially apparent considering that she was now a member of the very board against whom she had filed suit. (R. 1047.) Mrs. LeVanger's circumvention of the discovery procedures constitutes unfair surprise and a breach of the principles and procedures underlying the discovery process. As such, Plaintiffs should not be permitted to present evidence obtained in such a way, in an untimely manner, when such evidence could have been obtained through proper procedures before summary judgment.

C. Plaintiffs Waived Their Right to Object to Judge Brian's Decision to Hear Oral Argument Without First Reviewing the Additional Evidence Submitted by Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs argue that the trial court (the Honorable Judge Pat B. Brian) abused its discretion by not reviewing the pleadings or evidence submitted by Plaintiff before making its ruling denying Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider. However, the record establishes that the Plaintiffs have waived any right to object to the court ruling on its Motion without first reviewing the evidence submitted by Plaintiff in support of their Motion to Reconsider.

Plaintiff's counsel, after learning that the court had not reviewed any of the pleadings submitted in relation to the Motion to Reconsider, agreed to proceed with oral argument, without objection. (R. 1041-1042.) Moreover, Plaintiff's counsel agreed, at the conclusion of the oral argument to submit the Motion for Reconsideration for decision at that time. Specifically, the transcript of the hearing on Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider states as follows:

The court: Anything further anybody else would like to say before the court rules? Do you submit? (R. 1047.)

Mr. Sheen: Yes, your Honor. (R. 1047.)

By agreeing to submit the motion to reconsider to the court for decision immediately after oral argument, Plaintiff has waived his right to “now allege that the trial court abused his discretion by not reviewing the pleadings submitted.” Plaintiffs, surely, cannot be allowed to agree to submit the Motion to Reconsider to the court for decision, thereby attempting to lead the trial court into error. Accordingly, Plaintiff should be precluded from arguing that the trial court abused its discretion by not reviewing the pleadings prior to ruling on Plaintiff’s Motion to Reconsider.